No. S233898

AUG 09 2016

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

McGuire Clerk

T. H., A MINOR, ETC., ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

NOVARTIS PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION,

Defendant and Respondent.

Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D067839

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Erin M. Bosman, Esq. (SBN 204987) Julie Y. Park, Esq. (SBN 259929) MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP 12531 High Bluff Drive San Diego, California 92130-2040

TEL: (858) 720-5100 FAX: (858) 720-5125 ebosman@mofo.com juliepark@mofo.com

*Eric G. Lasker, Esq.
Joe G. Hollingsworth, Esq.
Katharine R. Latimer, Esq.
HOLLINGSWORTH LLP
1350 I Street NW

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

May the brand name manufacturer of a pharmaceutical drug that divested all ownership interest in the drug be held liable for injuries caused years later by another manufacturer's generic version of that drug?

INTRODUCTION

allowing Plaintiffs pursue claims against Novartis to injuries Pharmaceuticals Corporation for allegedly caused pharmaceutical drugs Novartis did not manufacture, the Court of Appeal ran roughshod over the fundamental legal principles and policy concerns that guided this Court's decision in O'Neil v. Crane Co. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335 and a line of cases before it. O'Neil holds "that a product manufacturer may not be held liable in strict liability or negligence for harm caused by another manufacturer's product." (Id. at p. 342, italics added.)

O'Neil's holding is particularly compelling in cases involving prescription drugs. Prescription drugs are subject to a comprehensive federal regulatory regime that (1) focuses legal responsibility for safety monitoring and labeling on current drug manufacturers, (2) bars former drug manufacturers from any role in the drug's marketing and labeling, and (3) provides incentives for the entry of generic drugs in competition with branded drugs to secure the availability of lower costs for mature drug products. This Court in turn has cautioned against expansive theories of drug manufacturer liability, and in leading decisions such as *Sindell v. Abbott Laboratories* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 588, it has squarely rejected claims that would hold a drug manufacturer liable for injuries known to be caused

¹ (See, e.g., FDA, What Are Generic Drugs,http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/ResourcesForYou/Consumers/BuyingUsingMedicineSafely/UnderstandingGenericDrugs/ucm144456.htm [last accessed Aug. 4, 2016].)

by another drug manufacturer's product. (See *id*. at p. 605.) The Court of Appeal's decision stretched California law far beyond the limits of liability embraced by *O'Neil* and *Sindell*.

Novartis was at least twice removed from the prescription drugs alleged to have caused Plaintiffs' injuries — first, by Novartis's undisputed and complete *divestiture* of its branded terbulatine drug Brethine to aaiPharma *six years* before Plaintiffs' exposure to any terbutaline drug; and, second, by the fact that Novartis *never* manufactured either of the generic drugs alleged to have caused Plaintiffs' injuries. Two extraordinary expansions of traditional tort law are thus before this Court:

First, the Court of Appeal held that a former manufacturer of a prescription drug owes a duty of care to consumers allegedly injured by the subsequent manufacturer's prescription drug. The Court of Appeal cited no authority for this "former manufacturer" duty. In fact, this Court and other California courts repeatedly have refused to hoist liability on a company based on its status as a former manufacturer. (O'Neil, supra, 53 Cal.4th 335 [refusing to impose duty on former manufacturer of valves and pipes containing packing and gaskets for alleged injuries caused by replacement packing and gaskets]; Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513 [refusing to impose duty on former manufacturer of pipe insulation]; Gansberger v. Rockwell Intern. Corp. (9th Cir. 1990) 911 F.2d 738, 1990 WL 115595 [applying California law, same for airplane manufacturer].) Courts outside of California also have rejected this "former manufacturer" duty, including specifically in prescription drug litigation. (E.g., Lyman v. Pfizer, Inc. (D.Vt. July 20, 2012, No. 2:09-cv-262) 2012 WL 2970627, *16-17.)

Second, the Court of Appeal held that the (in this case, former) manufacturer of a brand name prescription drug owes a duty of care to consumers allegedly injured by another manufacturer's generic "bio-equivalent" of that drug, i.e., that the branded drug manufacturer owes a duty of care to consumers of a drug it never manufactured and which instead is manufactured by a competitor. The Court of Appeal relied on Conte v. Wyeth, Inc. (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 89 for this proposition, but Conte rests upon legal arguments soundly rejected by this Court in O'Neil, and Conte's novel adoption of a "drug innovator" duty has been overwhelmingly rejected by courts around the country.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. THE COMPLAINT.

On October 8, 2013, minor Plaintiffs Teagan and Cardwell Hamilton filed this lawsuit and alleged that their autism was caused by their mother's 2007 use of generic drugs that were manufactured by Lehigh Valley Technologies, Inc. and Global Pharmaceuticals and that contained the active ingredient terbutaline. (1AA:1.) Terbutaline drugs are prescription bronchodilators approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and indicated for treatment of asthma, but they were prescribed to Plaintiffs' mother off-label as a tocolytic (to prevent pre-term labor). (1AA:22, 42-43.)²

Plaintiffs claimed a failure to warn. They alleged that the 2007 Lehigh Valley and Global drug product labels included warnings against tocolytic use but did not mention potential harm to the fetus. (1AA:46-49.)

² Physicians may prescribe drugs for other than labeled or indicated uses, *i.e.*, "off label," if appropriate to do so in their medical judgment. (*Buckman Co. v. Plaintiffs' Legal Committee* (2001) 531 U.S. 341, 350.)

Plaintiffs asserted that the drug company defendants improperly promoted terbutaline drugs for use as a tocolytic and that they knew or should have known of the alleged risk of these drugs to cause autism in children exposed in utero. (1AA:40-42.) Plaintiffs claimed that this risk was identified in a series of studies conducted between the late 1970s and 2006. (1AA:22-42.)

Plaintiffs sued the physician who prescribed the drugs, the hospital where Plaintiffs were born, and Lehigh Valley and Global as the manufacturers of the generic drugs used by their mother.³ Plaintiffs also sued a number of manufacturers or former manufacturers of branded terbutaline drugs, including Novartis, which at one time manufactured Brethine, and aaiPharma, the company that purchased all ownership rights in Brethine from Novartis in 2001, six years before Plaintiffs' mother's use of any terbutaline drugs. (1AA:3-5.)

II. THIS LITIGATION.

Novartis demurred, contending it owed no duty to Plaintiffs because Plaintiffs' mother did not use and could not have used a Novartis product. (1AA:59.) Novartis had sold all rights and interests in its terbutaline product Brethine to aaiPharma in 2001, and thus Novartis had left the market six years before Plaintiffs' mother's alleged terbutaline use. (1AA:68-71.) Plaintiffs stipulated that Novartis had divested its ownership interest in Brethine in 2001 (1AA:98-100), and Plaintiffs acknowledged that the obligation to monitor and update Brethine's label passed with that sale from Novartis to aaiPharma. (AOB:12, 32.) Plaintiffs also

³ Plaintiffs' claims against the prescribing physician, the hospital, and one of the makers of the generic terbutaline are still pending in the trial court.

acknowledged that Novartis did not manufacture the generic drugs used by their mother. (AOB:32.) But Plaintiffs argued that Novartis owed them a duty because it was foreseeable that the warning on Novartis's Brethine label prior to the divestiture in 2001 would cause Plaintiffs' mother's doctor to prescribe Lehigh Valley's and Global's generic terbutaline drugs to her in 2007. (1AA:78-81, 98.) Plaintiffs did not allege that Novartis engaged in any wrongful conduct after December 2001. (AOB:26.)

The trial court sustained Novartis's demurrer (1AA:101), ruling in accord with California law that Plaintiffs could not prevail "because Novartis owed Plaintiffs no duty as a matter of law for claims that arise from the pr[e]scribing of terbutaline medication in 2007." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal reversed. The Court of Appeal found that former manufacturer Novartis could have foreseen a chain of events whereby its conduct prior to the Brethine divestiture in 2001 could have caused a failure to warn by the subsequent manufacturer. The Court of Appeal concluded that such foreseeability created a duty of care on Novartis that ran to consumers of the subsequent manufacturer's product. (Slip Opn. 23.) The Court of Appeal then held that (former) brand manufacturer Novartis also could be liable to future users of generic terbutaline drugs, *i.e.*, "bio-equivalent" drugs manufactured by competitors that were not and had never been manufactured by Novartis.

III. THE REGULATORY SCHEME FOR PRESCRIPTION DRUGS.

Congress established a comprehensive federal regulatory regime to support the development of beneficial new drugs while at the same time ensuring the availability of updated safety information to the public and lower cost alternatives for mature drug products. This regulatory regime strictly limits labeling and safety monitoring authority and responsibilities to the current manufacturers of prescription drugs.

Under the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. § 301 et seq., the FDCA), "a drug manufacturer is prohibited from marketing a new drug unless the FDA has approved the drug as both safe and effective for its intended use." (*Id.* § 355(a); *Kanter v. Warner-Lambert Co.* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 780, 784-785.)⁴ A manufacturer seeking approval of a new drug must submit a detailed New Drug Application (NDA), which must include "substantial evidence" that the drug is safe and effective based on "adequate and well-controlled investigations." (21 U.S.C. § 355(d).) The NDA must also include "specimens" of the labeling proposed for the drug. (*Id.* § 355(b)(1)(F); 21 C.F.R. § 314.50(c)(2)(1); 21 C.F.R. § 201 et seq.) FDA may refuse to approve a NDA, among other reasons, if the agency determines that the labeling is false or misleading in any particular, if the application contains an untrue statement of a material fact, or if the proposed labeling does not comply with the requirements established in the regulations. (21 U.S.C. § 355(d)(7); 21 C.F.R. § 314.125(b)(6), (7), (8).)

The cost to innovator pharmaceutical companies of developing and securing FDA approval for *a single* new branded drug treatment has been estimated to exceed \$2.5 billion. (Tufts Center for the Study of Drug Development, *Cost of Developing a New Drug* (Nov. 18, 2014), http://csdd.tufts.edu/files/uploads/Tufts_CSDD_briefing_on_RD_cost_study_-Nov_18,_2014.pdf.) To provide the necessary incentive for the

⁴ For the convenience of the Court, Novartis cites to the FDA regulations for prescription drugs currently in effect to provide the FDA regulatory framework. The substantive obligations of branded and generic drug manufacturers at the time of Novartis's divestiture of the Brethine NDA and Plaintiffs' mother's use of terbutaline sulfate are governed by the FDA regulations in effect in 2001 and 2007, respectively.

development of new drugs, innovator companies that secure NDA approval are granted a period of market exclusivity for the drug, during which time competitor companies are excluded from the market. (21 U.S.C. § 355(c).)⁵

Following the approval of a NDA, its holder assumes continuing responsibilities under federal law to monitor adverse drug events and new scientific studies and to update the drug labels with any necessary (21 C.F.R. §§ 201.57(c)(6), 314.80(b).) warnings. Because these responsibilities attach to the NDA, if the holder sells the NDA to another company, all safety monitoring and labeling authority and responsibilities for the drug are transferred to the new NDA holder. (Id. § 314.72(a)(2).) At the time of sale, the "new owner shall advise FDA about any change in the approved application under § 314.70, except the new owner may advise FDA in the next annual report about a change in the drug product's label or labeling to change the product's brand or the name of its manufacturer, packer, or distributor." (21 C.F.R. § 314.72(b); see also id. § 201.1(a) [a drug is misbranded if the label does not "conspicuously" bear the name of the current manufacturer].)

Pursuant to these assumed responsibilities, the new NDA holder is required to revise the drug label "to include a warning as soon as there is reasonable evidence of an association of a serious hazard with a drug." (21 C.F.R. § 201.80(e).) If the new NDA holder fails to meet these responsibilities, it is subject to a host of FDA enforcement alternatives. (21 U.S.C. §§ 331(a)(b)(ii), (jj), 332, 333(b), 334, 335a, 335b.)

⁵ Actavis Elizabeth LLC v. U.S. Food and Drug Admin. (D.C. Cir. 2010) 625 F.3d 760, 764 [explains the Congressional purpose — to "provid[e] incentives for innovation by granting five-year exclusivity" to FDA-approved new drugs and barring sale of a competing drug].

Upon its sale of the NDA, the former NDA holder is precluded from further involvement in the drug's labeling. The former NDA holder must "submit a letter or other document [to the FDA] that states that all rights to the application have been transferred to the new owner" (21 C.F.R. § 314.72(a)(1)) and must notify the FDA that it has discontinued the manufacture and marketing of the drug. (21 U.S.C. § 360(j)(2)(B).) The former NDA holder may not thereafter propose any changes to the drug label. (21 C.F.R. §§ 314.70, 314.71 [only the applicant may submit a supplement to an application].) Moreover, the former NDA holder is prohibited under federal law from communicating any warnings about its former drug or making any statements contrary to the FDA-approved labeling maintained by the new NDA holder. (21 U.S.C. § 352(n) [prohibiting as misbranding any communications regarding side effects for prescription drugs that are contrary to FDA-required labeling]; 21 C.F.R. § 100.1(d)(1) [communications must mirror language on FDA-approved label].)6

At the end of the NDA market exclusivity period, FDA permits generic manufacturers to enter the market to sell competing generic drugs that are "bio-equivalent" to the branded drug. In 1984, Congress passed the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act, 98 Stat. 1585, commonly known as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, with the stated goal to "make available more low cost generic drugs by establishing a generic

⁶ Rather than sell the NDA, an innovator pharmaceutical company may formally withdraw the NDA at the end of the drug exclusivity period. In that event, the drug is moved to the "Discontinued Drug Product List" section of the FDA's Orange Book, and there is no NDA holder with ongoing responsibility to monitor the drug safety and labeling. (See 21 C.F.R. § 314.150(c); FDA, *Orange Book Preface* (June 10, 2016), http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DevelopmentApprovalProcess/ucm079068.htm [last accessed on Aug. 4, 2016].)

drug approval procedure." (H.R.Rep. No. 98-857, pt. 1, p. 14 (1984).) The Hatch-Waxman Act "allows manufacturers to develop generic drugs inexpensively, without duplicating the clinical trials already performed on the equivalent brand-name drug," and their costs are further lowered because the FDCA mandates that they use the "same . . . label[ing] approved [by the FDA] for the brand-name drug." (*PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing* (2011) 564 U.S. 604, 612-613.)

"These legislative efforts to expand production and consumption of generic drugs have proved wildly successful." (*PLIVA, Inc., supra*, 546 U.S. at p. 629, Sotomayor, J., dissenting.) Today, generic drugs "dominate the market." (*Ibid.*) Upon the entry of generic drugs, the NDA holder of the branded drug rapidly loses market share to the lower-cost generic manufacturers. (H. Grabowski, G. Long & R. Mortimer, *Recent trends in brand-name and generic drug competition*, J. Med. Econ. 2013, 1-8, 6-7, http://fds.duke.edu/db/attachment/2575 [brand manufacturers retain only 11% of the drug market after the first year of generic entry].)

Generic drug manufacturers must use the same labeling as that used by the NDA holder for the branded drug, and generic manufacturers are required to separately monitor the safety of their drugs. Under federal law, generic manufacturers must "develop written procedures for the surveillance, receipt, evaluation, and reporting of postmarketing adverse drug experiences to FDA." (21 C.F.R. §§ 314.80(b), § 314.98 [making § 314.80 applicable to generic manufacturers].) Generic manufacturers also must submit to the FDA an annual report summarizing "significant new information from the previous year that might affect the safety, effectiveness, or labeling of the drug product," including a "description of actions the [manufacturer] has taken or intends to take as a result of this new information." (21 C.F.R. §§ 314.81(b)(2)(i), 314.98(c).) In

implementing the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, the FDA instructed that if a generic drug manufacturer "believes new safety information should be added to a product's labeling, it should contact FDA, and FDA will determine whether the labeling for the generic and [branded] drugs should be revised." (57 Fed. Reg. 17950, 17961 (Apr. 28, 1992).)

LEGAL ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' claims would eviscerate legal boundaries established over decades of California jurisprudence that ensure that a manufacturer may not be held liable for injuries allegedly caused by another manufacturer's product. The Court of Appeal here carved two "exceptions" into bedrock legal principle, such that a branded drug company would be held endlessly liable: (1) as a "former manufacturer," for injuries allegedly caused by the branded drug as manufactured by a different company years after the former manufacturer's divestiture of ownership in the drug, and (2) as an "innovator" (or former innovator), for injuries allegedly caused by generic drugs that the branded drug company never manufactured. These exceptions should not stand.

I. UNDER CALIFORNIA LAW, A MANUFACTURER IS NOT LIABLE FOR INJURIES CAUSED BY ANOTHER MANUFACTURER'S PRODUCT.

Plaintiffs' claims against Novartis are precluded by a single, unalterable and undisputed fact — Novartis did not manufacture either of the drugs that allegedly caused Plaintiffs' injuries. As this Court has made clear both generally and specifically for prescription drugs, there can be no liability in this circumstance.

A. O'Neil rejected a request to impose liability on one manufacturer for harm caused by another manufacturer's product.

Just four years ago, this Court held "that a product manufacturer may not be held liable in strict liability or negligence for harm caused by another manufacturer's product." (O'Neil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 342.) O'Neil allows only two exceptions to this rule — in cases where the manufacturer had (i) produced a separate product alleged to have "contributed substantially to the harm" or (ii) created "a harmful combined use of the products." (Ibid.) Neither exception applies here and so Novartis "may not be held liable in strict liability or negligence for harm caused by [Lehigh Valley's and Global's] product[s]." (See ibid.)

In O'Neil, the plaintiff claimed the manufacturers of valves and pumps with asbestos-containing packing and gaskets should be liable for his asbestos-related disease, notwithstanding that he was allegedly injured by replacement packing and gaskets manufactured by different manufacturers. (O'Neil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 349-350.) The plaintiff contended it was foreseeable that the defendants' failure to warn about the risks from their own packing and gaskets would cause his injury because the replacement packing and gaskets were "no different" from those originally supplied by the defendants. (Id. at p. 347.) And the plaintiff argued that if the defendants "had warned the hypothetical original user, or protected that person by avoiding defective design, subsequent users, too, would have been protected." (Ibid.)

Rejecting plaintiff's arguments that would have imposed liability on one manufacturer for harm caused by another manufacturer's products, this Court held that "in strict liability as in negligence, foreseeability alone is not sufficient to create an independent tort duty." (O'Neil, supra,

53 Cal.4th at p. 362, internal citations and quotation marks omitted.) Rather, the fact that "the defendant manufactured, sold, or supplied the injury-causing product is a separate and threshold requirement that must be independently established." (*Ibid.*) This Court explained that the "same policy considerations that militate against imposing strict liability in this situation apply with equal force in the context of negligence." (*Id.* at p. 366.)

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