IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

T.H., A MINOR, ET AL.,

SUPREME COURT FILED

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

OCT 12 2016

υ.

Jorge wavarrete Clerk

NOVARTIS PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent.

Review of a decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D067839

Answer Brief on the Merits

Leslie A. Brueckner, Esq. PUBLIC JUSTICE, P.C. 555 12th Street, Suite 1230 Oakland, California 94607

Tel: (510) 520-6205 Fax: (510) 622-8155 Benjamin I. Siminou, Esq. THORSNES BARTOLOTTA MCGUIRE LLP 2550 Fifth Avenue, 11th Floor San Diego, California 92103 Tel: (619) 236-9363

Fax: (619) 236-9653

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

ARGUMENT

Before addressing what this case *is* about, it is important to clarify what it is *not*. Contrary to Novartis' arguments:

- Plaintiffs do not contend Novartis is liable merely by virtue of having "innovated" Brethine;
- Plaintiffs do *not* contend Novartis is liable merely by virtue of its status as a "former" Brethine manufacturer; and
- Plaintiffs do *not* contend Novartis is liable for doing—or failing to do—anything after December 2001.9

Rather, Plaintiffs simply seek to assign liability to Novartis for the foreseeable, downstream consequences of its failure to discharge its federally mandated duty to update Brethine's label while it still owned Brethine (i.e., prior to December 2001).

With that in mind, it becomes clear that this case presents just two questions for this Court's consideration:

1. Can a brand-name manufacturer that knew or should have known that its drug was mislabeled ever be held liable for injuries caused by a generic version of the drug?

⁹ Novartis attempted this same distortion in the Court of Appeal, which saw it for the mischaracterization it was and squarely rejected it. (See *T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp.* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 589, 601.)

2. If so, does a manufacturer that attempts to maximize its profit from an illegally mislabeled drug by selling that drug to another company instead of adding warnings required by federal law remain potentially liable for subsequent, foreseeable injuries caused by the mislabeled drug?

As discussed in Part I below, the answer to the first question is "Yes." Where (1) a brand-name manufacturer breaches its federal duty to update a drug label with necessary warning information; and (2) a patient is injured by a generic drug in reliance on that inaccurate label; then (3) California tort law strongly supports imposing liability on the brand-name manufacturer.

As Part II explains, the answer to the second question is also "Yes." Where (1) a "former" brand-name manufacturer breaches its federal duty to update a drug label with necessary warning information; (2) the update would have prevented a plaintiff's exposure to the drug; and (3) the former brand-name manufacturer could reasonably have foreseen that its successor would not update the label either; then (4) the former brand-name manufacturer also bears liability for injuries caused in reliance on the inaccurate label.

I. Longstanding Tort Principles Support Imposing Liability on Brand-Name Drug Companies for Injuries Caused by Generic Drugs.

Holding brand-name manufacturers liable for injuries caused by generic versions of their drugs is consistent with the long-standing rule that those who disseminate misinformation to the public are liable for physical harm to third parties resulting from foreseeable reliance on those misrepresentations.

A. Under California Law, Those Who Disseminate
Misinformation to the Public Are Liable for Physical
Harm Resulting from Foreseeable Reliance on Those
Misrepresentations.

This principle was first articulated in Section 311 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which provides that "[o]ne who negligently gives false information to another is subject to liability for physical harm caused by action taken by the other in reasonable reliance upon such information, where such harm results . . . to such third persons as the actor should expect to be put in peril by the action taken." (Id. [emphasis added].)

Hanberry v. Hearst Corp. (1969) 276 Cal.App.2d 680, was among the first cases to expressly apply this intuitive principle. There, a consumer sued Good Housekeeping Magazine for giving a brand of shoes its "seal of approval" when, in fact, the shoes

were defective and caused the consumer to slip and fall. Even though the magazine did not make the shoes, the consumer alleged the liable magazine was for negligently misrepresentation. Citing the *Restatement*, the Court of Appeals agreed, noting that the magazine "ha[d] placed itself in the position where public policy impose[d] upon it the duty to use ordinary care in the issuance of its seal and certification of quality so that members of the consuming public who rely on its endorsement [were] not unreasonably exposed to the risk of harm." (*Id.* at p. 684.)

This Court relied on this sensible principle in Garcia v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 728, where a parole officer dissuaded a parolee's prior victim from taking security precautions by reassuring her that the parolee would "not come looking for her" after he was released from prison. The assurance turned out to be inaccurate; shortly after his release, the parolee kidnapped and shot his prior victim. (Id. at pp. 731–733.) Citing Hanberry and Section 311 of the Restatement, this Court held that, once the parole officer elected to speak, he bore a duty to provide accurate information and could be held accountable for

any harm caused by the inaccuracy of that information. (Id. at pp.735-736.)

Garcia created an important exception to the "ordinary rule" that liability for negligent misrepresentations is limited to "those who supply information for business purposes in the course of a business or profession." (Id. at p. 735 [citation omitted].) Garcia held that, where physical harm is involved, "there may be liability for the negligence even though the information is given gratuitously and the actor derives no benefit from giving it." (Ibid. [citation omitted].)

Then, in Randi W. v. Munroc Joint Unified School Dist. (1997) 14 Cal.4th 1066, 1077, this Court extended Garcia to hold that "one who negligently provides false information to another can owe a duty of care to a third person who did not receive the information and who has no special relationship with the provider of the false information." (Id. [emphasis added].) Randi W. specifically ruled that a school district's misrepresentations about a former employee in a letter of recommendation could render the school district liable for the employee's molestation of a student at his new school. "[C]onsistent with Restatement Second of Torts sections 310 and 311," this Court held, the writer

of the recommendation owed a duty not to misrepresent the relevant facts if the misrepresentations would present a foreseeable and substantial risk of harm to a third party. (*Id.* at p. 1081.)

B. Conte is Deeply Rooted in California Tort Law.

Hanberry, Garcia, and Randi W. inexorably led to the decision in Conte v. Wyeth (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 89, where the Court of Appeal—citing each of the above authorities—applied common-law principles of duty and foreseeability to conclude that a brand-name drug manufacturer could be held liable under a negligent-misrepresentation theory for injuries caused by a generic version of its drug. (Id. at p. 109.)

Conte began by dismissing the brand-name manufacturer's argument—the same argument Novartis advances here—that it was immune from suit because it did not manufacture the actual pills that injured the plaintiff. While the court agreed that a defendant generally cannot be held liable in products liability absent a showing that it made the offending product, the court held that this rule did not bar the plaintiff's suit because the plaintiff had alleged a negligent-misrepresentation claim against

the brand-name manufacturer, *not* a strict-liability claim. (*Id.* at p. 101.)

Conte then addressed "whether a name-brand prescription drug manufacturer...owes a duty of care to patients who take a generic version of the drug pursuant to a prescription written in reliance on the name-brand maker's information." (Id. at p. 103.)

Conte observed that, "[a]s in Garcia and Randi W., in this case our duty analysis must look primarily to the foreseeability of physical harm." (Id. at p. 104.) The court observed:

In California, as in most states, pharmacists have long been authorized by statute to fill prescriptions for name-brand drugs with their generic equivalents unless the prescribing doctor forbids substitution... It is therefore highly likely that a prescription for Reglan written in reliance on Wyeth's product information will be filled with generic metoclopramide. And, because by law the generic and name-brand versions of drugs are biologically equivalent..., it is also eminently foreseeable that a physician might prescribe generic metoclopraminde in reliance on Wyeth's representations about Reglan.

(Id. at 105.) "In this context," Conte concluded, "we have no difficulty concluding that Wyeth could reasonably perceive that there could be injurious reliance on its product information by a patient taking generic metoclopramide." (Ibid.)

That conclusion is hardly exotic or revolutionary, given that federal law requires generic drug label to be identical to brandname drug labels. And Conte's recognition that brand-name manufacturers' duty of care extends to consumers of generic drugs is in lockstep with Randi W.'s holding that "the writer of a letter of recommendation owes to third persons a duty not to misrepresent the facts...if [doing so] would present a substantial, foreseeable risk of resulting physical injury..." (Randi W., supra, 14 Cal.4th at p. 1081.)

In fact, far from an extreme expansion of California tort law, Conte is actually a more conservative ruling than both Garcia and Randi W. insofar as those cases imposed liability for negligent misrepresentations "even though the information was given gratuitously and the actor derive[d] no benefit from giving it." (Garcia, supra, 50 Cal.3d at p. 375.)

C. O'Neil Strongly Supports Plaintiffs, Not Novartis, by Endorsing Conte's Approach to Negligence Claims.

Notwithstanding Conte's consistency with Garcia and Randi W., Novartis contends that this Court implicitly overruled Conte in O'Neil v. Crane Co. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335. Novartis is

wrong. In fact, O'Neil strongly supports and affirms Conte and, thus, the decision below.

1. O'Neil's Holding that Manufacturers Can Only Be Sued for Injuries Caused by Their Own Products Only Applies to Strict Liability Claims.

As a threshold matter, the holding in *O'Neil* that is championed by Novartis—that product manufacturers may not be held liable for harm caused by another manufacturer's product—only applies to *strict-liability claims*, not negligence claims, and thus has nothing to do with this negligent-misrepresentation case.

We know this for two reasons. First, O'Neil contained both strict-liability claims and negligence claims, and virtually all of O'Neil's broad statements to the effect that manufacturers cannot be sued for injuries caused by another manufacturer's product are couched entirely in terms of strict products liability. 10

^{10 (}See, e.g., O'Neil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 348 ["From the outset, strict products liability in California has always been premised on harm caused by deficiencies in the defendant's own product"]; ibid. ["We have never held that strict liability extends to harm from entirely distinct products that the consumer can be expected to use with, or in, the defendant's non-defective product. Instead, we have consistently...requir[ed] proof that the plaintiff suffered injury caused by a defect in the defendant's own product."]; id. at p. 349 ["the mere foreseeability of injury to users of a defective product [has never been] sufficient justification for

Second, the Court's actual holding that a product manufacturer can only be sued for injuries caused by its own products only related to the strict-liability claims in that case. The Court's language is crystal clear on this point. It states "that a product manufacturer generally may not be held strictly liable for harm caused by another manufacturer's product." (Id. at p. 362 [emphasis added].) This holding is plain on its face. It contains no reference to negligence claims, and thus Novartis's attempt to graft it onto this lawsuit—a negligentmisrepresentation case that has nothing to do with strict liability—fails right out of the starting gate.

If there were any remaining doubt as to the limits of O'Neil's holding, it would be dispelled by the fact that this Court then went on to separately analyze the plaintiff's negligence

imposing *strict liability* outside the stream of commerce."] [emphases added to all quotes].)

The only exception is a stray quote from the beginning of the decision—which Novartis seizes upon in its brief (see OBOM at p. 18)—that is couched in broader terms. (See *id.* at p. 342 [stating that "product manufacturers may not be held liable in strict liability or in negligence for harm caused by another manufacturer's product."].) The actual holding of *O'Neil*, however, is far narrower, as this brief explains.

claims by applying the policy factors set forth in Rowland v. Christian (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108, 113, to determine whether the cause of action should be permitted to proceed. (Id. at p. 365.) Although O'Neil ultimately determined that the defendant was not negligent, that conclusion was not predicated on the bare fact that the defendant had not manufactured the product that injured the plaintiff; rather, it was because the Court felt that, for a variety of reasons, imposing liability on that defendant would not be appropriate under Rowland.¹¹

If, as Novartis contends, O'Neil intended to erect a blanket prohibition against negligence claims against manufacturers for injuries caused by products they did not produce, then there would have been no need for O'Neil to conduct a Rowland analysis at all. Yet not only did the O'Neil Court analyze the asserted negligence claims under Rowland, but—as explained

¹¹ For example, O'Neil relied on the fact that the connection between the defendants' conduct and the plaintiff's injury was extremely remote because the plaintiff "did not work around defendants' pumps and valves until more than 20 years after they were sold, and he did not develop an injury from the replacement parts and surrounding insulation until nearly 40 years after his workplace contact"—circumstances that "attenuate the connection between the defendants' products and the alleged injury." (Id. at p. 365.)

below (see Part I.D.)—all of those factors weigh heavily in favor of *Plaintiffs* here.

2. O'Neil's Separate Treatment of Strict Liability and Negligence Claims Vindicates and Reaffirms Conte—and Thus Supports the Lower Court's Ruling in This Case.

The foregoing is more than sufficient to render Novartis's reliance on O'Neil wholly inapposite. But there's more, because, contrary to Novartis's claim that "Conte rests upon legal arguments soundly rejected by this Court in O'Neil" (OBOM at p. 10), O'Neil's analysis actually reaffirms Conte's entire analytical approach.

First, O'Neil's separate treatment of the plaintiff's strict-liability claims and negligence claims endorses Conte's crucial foundational premise that "[n]egligence and strict products liability are separate and distinct bases for liability that do not automatically collapse into each other because the plaintiff might allege both when a product warning contributes to her injury."

(Conte, supra, 168 Cal.App.4th at p. 101.)

This matters because, as discussed below (see Part I.E.), many of the out-of-state cases that refused to hold brand-name manufacturers liable for injuries caused by generic drugs have

rejected this foundational premise, and thus treat all lawsuits involving injuries caused by a product as "product-liability actions," even if the claims are rooted in negligence. And, because in most jurisdictions—as in California—a defendant generally cannot be held liable for "products liability" unless it made or sold the offending product, courts that ignore negligence claims in "products" cases have declined to hold brand-name manufacturers liable for injuries caused by generic drugs simply because the brand-name manufacturer did not manufacturer the product in question. 12

Seen against this backdrop, O'Neil's separate treatment of the plaintiff's strict-liability and negligence claims is a vitally important confirmation of Conte's recognition that California courts do not treat all claims the same simply because they happen to involve a defective product. (Conte, supra, 168 Cal.App.4th at p. 101; see also Saller v. Crown Cork & Seal Co., Inc. (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1220, 1239 ["Negligence and strict

¹² See Victor E. Schwartz et. al, Warning: Shifting Liability to Manufacturers of Brand-Name Medicines When the Harm Was Allegedly Caused by Generic Drugs Has Severe Side Effects (2013) 81 Fordham L. Rev. 1835, 1861 (collecting cases; hereafter Shifting Liability).

product liability are separate and distinct bases for liability that do not automatically collapse into each other because the plaintiff might allege both when a product warning contributes to her injury."].)¹³

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